

Reactive Oxygen Species: Central Regulators of the Tumor Microenvironment

An Immuno-Oncology Perspective

María Julia Lamberti, Renzo Emanuel Vera, Martín Ernesto Fernández-Zapico, and Natalia Belén Rumie Vittar

Contents

Introduction	665
The Origin of ROS: Mitochondrial and Nonmitochondrial Sources	666
Major Producers of ROS in the TME	667
Molecular Events Triggered by ROS: Impact on Tumorigenesis	668
Modulation of Immune Cells by Tumor Microenvironment-Associated Oxidative Stress	671
Natural Killer Cells	671
Dendritic Cells	671
T-Cells	672
Treg Cells	673
ROS Involvement on Immunomodulation by Antitumor Therapeutics Immunotherapy	673
Conclusion	675
References	676

Maria Julia Lamberti & Renzo Emanuel Vera contributed equally to this article.

M. J. Lamberti

Division of Oncology Research, Schulze Center for Novel Therapeutics, Rochester, MN, USA

Molecular Biology Department, National University of Río Cuarto, Río Cuarto, Córdoba, Argentina

INBIAS, CONICET-UNRC, Río Cuarto, Córdoba, Argentina

R. E. Vera (🖂) · M. E. Fernández-Zapico

Division of Oncology Research, Schulze Center for Novel Therapeutics, Rochester, MN, USA e-mail: Vera.Renzo@mayo.edu; fernandezzapico.martin@mayo.edu

N. B. Rumie Vittar Molecular Biology Department, National University of Río Cuarto, Río Cuarto, Córdoba, Argentina

INBIAS, CONICET-UNRC, Río Cuarto, Córdoba, Argentina

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

S. Chakraborti et al. (eds.), *Handbook of Oxidative Stress in Cancer: Mechanistic Aspects*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-9411-3_159

Abstract

Reactive oxygen species (ROS), a group of molecules generated by partial reduction of oxygen, have been postulated as central regulators of essential cellular functions through the modulation of signaling pathways activity. Excessive production of ROS, also known as oxidative stress, is a common feature of tumor microenvironment (TME). A large number of studies have provided strong evidence supporting a role of oxidative stress in the regulation of tumor development and progression through the modulation of the TME. In this chapter, we summarize the state of the field as it relates to causes and consequences of ROS elevation in the TME. In addition, we describe the molecular and biological mechanisms governing the intricate network of events driven by oxidative stress leading to an immunosuppressed TME. Finally, we discuss the translational significance of ROS induction as new therapeutic strategies with an emphasis in the role of photodynamic therapy, as a ROS-based potent antitumor agent regulating inflammation and immune system activation during tumor progression.

Keywords

Reactive oxygen species \cdot Oxidative stress \cdot Tumor microenvironment \cdot Immune cells

		•		
Ah	hrev	/Ia	tin	ns
ND	DIC	viu	uv	

APC	Antigen presenting cells
CAFs	Cancer Associated Fibroblasts
COX	Ciclooxigenase
DCs	Dendritic cells
ECM	Extracellular matrix
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
HGG	High-grade glioma
HIF-1	Hypoxia Inducible Factor-1
ICD	Immunogenic cell death
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MDSCs	Myeloid-derived suppressor cells
NK	Natural killer
NOX	NADPH oxidase
PDT	Photodynamic Therapy
PGE2	Prostaglandin E2
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
TAMs	Tumor-Associated Macrophages
TCR	T-cell receptor
Th1	T-helper 1
Treg	T-regulatory

Introduction

In the current dogma of tumorigenesis, it is well establish the role of the tumor microenvironment (TME) in the regulation of tumor initiation, growth, and maintenance. (Kim et al. 2011). This tumor ecosystem is a complex network composed of cellular and noncellular elements. Malignant cells (parenchyma) and host cells (stroma) constitute the principal populations in this microsystem. TME's stroma is composed by fibroblasts, cells of the immune system, tumor vasculature and lymphatics, among others. Cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) are one of the most abundant components of this ecosystem. CAFs provide physical support for tumor cells through synthesis and remodeling of the extracellular matrix (ECM) and production of growth factors. Through these mechanisms, they play key roles in promoting angiogenesis, metastasis, and modulation of infiltrating leukocytes. Recognition and elimination of tumors by adaptive immune cells (CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T-cells) and innate immune cells including natural killer (NK) cells and dendritic cells (DCs) play a pivotal antitumor immunological activity and are often impaired in TME. In concordance, immunosuppressive populations, such as T regulatory (Treg), myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), and tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), are recruited and enriched within tumor stroma. The bidirectional interaction between stroma and tumor cells shapes their phenotype and response to the environmental conditions (Rumie Vittar et al. 2013).

Diffusible molecules present in the TME, like O_2 , are essential mediators controlling tumor dynamics (Wang et al. 2017). Oxygen plays a key role in metabolism and its presence is a required condition for tumor growth. When the microenvironment senses lack of oxygen, molecular pathways are triggered to ensure provision of this molecule. At the same time, secondary products are generated as a consequence of oxygen metabolism. These compounds, named reactive oxygen species (ROS), are reactive molecules eliciting multiple biologicals effects through modifications of key redox-sensitive residues in biomolecules like DNA and proteins. ROS include radicals (molecules with unpaired electrons) that are formed by partial reduction of oxygen (O_2) , such as hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) , superoxide (O_2^{-}) , and hydroxyl (OH). Even though tumor cells are damaged and genetically modified by ROS produced inside itself, diffusible ROS from surroundings are able to reach tumor cells establishing a positive loop of damage and genetic modification on these cells. For this reason, in order to distinguish these differential origins of tumor oxidative stress, in this chapter we classified the sources ROS within tumor in two major categories: (a) ROS from tumor cells, (RTC) and (b) ROS from nontumor cells (RNTC) which represent diffusible species that are impacting on tumor cells coming from their neighbors inhabiting tumor microenvironment (Fig. 1). ROS have been considered as important signaling molecules in cancer (Costa et al. 2014). While ROS are known to be enhancers of tumor development through direct effect on the tumor cells, the induction of immune cell suppression has emerged as new mechanism controlling carcinogenesis (Yang et al. 2013). In this chapter, we will focus mainly on the central role for ROS in the modulation of antitumor immunity.



Fig. 1 Tumor and nontumor cells sources of reactive oxygen species in cancer. Intracellular ROS pool in tumor cells is generated from endogenous enzymatic complex and also from surrounding sources, in particular cellular populations inhabiting tumor microenvironment

The Origin of ROS: Mitochondrial and Nonmitochondrial Sources

Intracellular ROS sources include mitochondria electron transport chain, NADPH oxidases (NOX), cyclooxygenases (COX), cytochrome P450 (CYO), among other enzymes (Fig. 1). Cancer cells exhibit a persistent metabolic oxidative stress compared with normal cells: intrinsic mitochondrial dysfunction, NOX activation, COX, and CYP aberrant overexpression, partially explain this phenomenon (Kumari et al. 2018; Snezhkina et al. 2019). As a part of metabolic reactions, high levels of ROS are generated and unregulated levels can lead to oxidative damage such as DNA mutation–causing cancer initiation and progression.

The principal radical produced by mitochondria is superoxide, which comes from one-electron reduction of oxygen in mitochondrial electron transport chain. In particular, mitochondrial complex I, II, and III are the largest contributors of superoxide cellular pool. This radical is then converted into H_2O_2 by superoxide dismutase (SOD). The conversion mediated by SOD is important to generate a more diffusible molecule, which can get access to the cytoplasm. The amount of ROS produced by mitochondria not only depends on biochemistry of this organelle; also the number of mitochondria inside the cells is important to regulate ROS concentration (Moloney and Cotter 2018). This process is able to ensure an adequate supply of O_2 while keeping ROS under tolerable levels. Altered function of mitochondria clearance activity increases cytoplasmic ROS accumulation (Shefa et al. 2019) leading to an enhanced DNA damage and cellular transformation.

NOX enzymes comprise a transmembrane family of proteins with important role to generate intracellular ROS. Their principal function is to transport electrons across biological membranes to reduce oxygen. The H_2O_2 produced rapidly diffuses using aquaporin channels. Although these enzymes have similar role to produce ROS, their expression changes among different tissues and cells. Currently, a total of seven members of this family have been described (NOX1-5 and DUOX1-2). NOX2 was the first member identified in phagocytes, while others members were found in colon (NOX2), kidney (NOX4), and pancreas (NOX5) among others (Bedard and Krause 2007).

COX family of enzymes comprises of three members (COX-1, COX-2, and COX-3) located mainly at the luminal side of nuclear and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) membrane. These isoenzymes are involved in prostaglandin synthesis which control process like inflammation, platelets aggregation, cell growth, calcium flow, among others. COX-1 and COX-2 are closely related to ROS production in two major ways. First, ROS can induce COX-2 expression, leading to increased PGE2 (prostaglandin E2) synthesis that in turn promotes cell proliferation, survival, and invasion in different cancer models. On the other hand, COX is able to induce ROS production by itself or by increasing NADPH oxidase activity. These properties of COX had shed light about how tumorigenesis could be increased in some tumors (Sobolewski et al. 2010).

Cytochrome P450 is an important superfamily of monooxygenase placed on the endoplasmic reticulum, in particular its activity is associated with the membranebound microsomal system, a complex controlling xenobiotics clearance (drugs, alcohol, polychlorinated biphenyls, synthetic organochlorides). Inefficient catalytic cycle of P450 increases ROS production and in turn induces changes promoting to cellular transformation (Veith and Moorthy 2018). Other important enzymes nitric oxide synthases and lipoxygenases can induce intracellular ROS accumulation and have been linked with tumorigenesis (Moloney and Cotter 2018). However, description of their function exceeds the purpose of this chapter.

Major Producers of ROS in the TME

Tumor cells enzymatic complex can increase intracellular ROS pool; however, there are other relevant sources of these radicals in other cellular components of the TME that are in part regulated by tumor cells. ROS produced by cancer cells can diffuse into tumor stroma and increase oxidative status of microenvironment. Under these conditions, nonmalignant cells in the microenvironment modify their phenotype in response to increment level of ROS. Moreover, these newly adaptive stroma populations contribute to enhance oxidative stress in the tumor niche by nontumor cells (Weinberg et al. 2019).

Among these cells, cancer associated fibroblasts (CAFs) are major regulators of the level of extracellular ROS in TME. In this context, ROS can stimulate differentiation of CAFs, leading to metabolic reprograming of certain subpopulation, which impacts on tumor development and further enhancing ROS production (Arcucci et al. 2016). Similarly, immune cells constitute another important source of ROS. For example, TAMs and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) can produce a large amount of ROS that can impact on immune cells phenotype by impairing the normal function of T-cells leading to a immunosuppressive TME, supporting tumor growth and dissemination (Weinberg et al. 2019) (Ostrand-Rosenberg et al. 2020) (Srivastava et al. 2010). In summary, the TME is enriched in ROS sources from different cell population to orchestrate a meshwork of pathway promoting an immunosuppressive environment leading to tumor progression.

Molecular Events Triggered by ROS: Impact on Tumorigenesis

It is possible to point two opposite effects of ROS in health and disease or in other words the "Yin and Yang" of ROS (Fig. 2). At lower levels, in the "light side," ROS seem to contribute to normal physiology, regulating cellular homeostasis (Weinberg et al. 2019). In the "dark side," in terms of pro-tumoral events, ROS are crucial to regulate molecular pathways leading to tumorigenesis and inhibition of antitumor immune response. In this section, three principal molecular events triggered by ROS are discussed: DNA damage, regulation of signal transduction, and gene transcription.



Fig. 2 Opposite role of ROS in health and disease. As described in this chapter, ROS generated by tumor and nontumor cells are able to play different roles depending on the context. In normal tissue, lower-moderate levels of ROS promote adequate homeostasis and normal physiology. When the concentration of ROS in the cells or TME is high, processes such as immune deregulation, uncontrolled proliferation, and genetic instability have place. These molecular events are important to initiate, support, and promote tumor growth and invasiveness

DNA damage: A major impact of excessive ROS in cancer cells is the induction of genomic instability through the generation of DNA damage. Under high ROS levels, DNA repair pathways are not capable to effectively fix the damage and mutations arise in tumor and nontumor cells. This instability has been proposed as an important force driving oncogenesis by promoting genetic variability essential for tumor adaptation, resistance, and evolution (Moloney and Cotter 2018). Mechanistically ROS are able to impact on DNA integrity in different ways, which include: single lesion in purine and pyrimidine bases, DNA-protein adducts, and interstrand crosslinking (Cadet and Richard Wagner 2013). In the first case, the hydroxyl radical (OH[•]) reacts with DNA adding double bonds and abstracting H atoms in DNA bases. These single lesions can induce conformational changes in DNA and enhance mutagenic rates. Another important impact of ROS on DNA functionality is the crosslinking that rise when lysine residue of peptides reacts with guanine radical cations. These DNA-protein structures may obstruct the normal process of transcription and replication leading to genomic instability. Finally, through oxidative mechanism (Nucleophilic Addition) •OH is responsible for crosslinking of opposite DNA strands. This lesion is highly harmful due to it prevents transcription and replication by inhibiting the correct DNA strand separation (Cooke et al. 2003).

Signal Transduction and Gene Transcription: The effect of ROS on molecular pathways could be evaluated at different levels. ROS can influence the activation of proteins involved in signal transduction axis or may affect directly the activation of transcription factors. One of the principal pathways activated by ROS is mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) signaling. This pathway plays an important role in signal transduction from plasmatic membrane to the nucleus to regulate oncogenic gene expression. In mammalian cells, there are three categories of MAPKs: the c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNKs), the extracellular signal regulated kinases (ERKs), and the p38 MAPKs. In each category it is possible to find different isoforms for MAPKs, which are activated through phosphorylation. MAPKs activated by ROS have the major activity to enhance proliferation, cellular growth, and avoid apoptosis leading to a more extended cell survival (Zhang et al. 2016). In the case of ERK axis, ROS have been reported to activate the EGF and PDGF receptors in a ligand-independent manner, which can induce Ras and subsequently trigger ERK pathway activation. Also, other reports have shown how ROS can inactivate the dual specific phosphatase 3 (DUSP3) leading to ERK activation (Wentworth et al. 2011). It has been pointed out that ROS are able to act on redox-sensitive proteins or mediate the detachment of JNK from its inhibitor protein the glutathione S-transferase pi (GSTp). High levels of ROS can also inactivate phosphatases resulting in a sustained JNK activation (Davies and Tournier 2012). The p38 pathway is activated by extracellular stresses, and similar to JNK pathways ROS can activate different intermediate proteins such as MLK3 and MEK 1/2. Finally it is important to point out that through pathway crosstalk, the activation of one axis by ROS may activate colateral signalings (Soares-Silva et al. 2016).

Another molecular impact mediated by ROS in cancer development is the activation of oncogenic transcription factors. For example, ROS stabilize the Hypoxia Inducible Factor-1 (HIF-1). This transcription factor is composed of two subunits: HIF-1 α and HIF-1 β . In order to regulate gene expression, HIF-1 needs to be stabilized and activated. ROS are able to mediate HIF-1a stabilization and promote its transcriptional activity (Lamberti et al. 2017). HIF-1 activity is essential for tumor cells to adapt to hypoxia and metabolic conditions in TME. HIF-1 allows cancer cells to survive in hypoxic conditions and at the same time increases the pathways that tend to enhance the nutrient flow to tumor through improving angiogenesis. For example, HIF regulates genes involved in VEGF secretion (Jun et al. 2017; Lamberti et al. 2019a). Also, the relationship between HIF-1 and ROS has been observed in tumor resistance to different treatments (Lamberti et al. 2017). HIF-1 activity is not only important in cancer cells; this transcription factor also is active in stromal cells. In particular, HIF-1 activity in infiltrating immune cells impacts on tumor evolution. For example, HIF-1 is important for TAMs recruitment and tumor growth. Also, HIF-1 regulates Treg differentiation, creating in some cases an immunotolerant microenvironment (Palazon et al. 2014). Another important molecular effect of HIF-1 is its ability to regulate autophagy. During tumor initiation, autophagy operates in order to protect the cells against oxidative stress. In this stage, autophagy is responsible for elimination of damaged mitochondria; in this way, the level of ROS decreases and some signal transduction pathway associated with ROS and transformation are prevented. The opposite effect of autophagy is observed on tumor progression. In this stage, autophagy is needed to the adaptation of cancer cells to the hypoxic microenvironment (Rodríguez et al. 2017). Particularly, ROS induce HIF-1 stabilization, which triggers the expression of BNIP3, a protein necessary to interact with Beclin-1 and Atg5 to form the autophagosome (REFs). In this way, mitochondria are recycling and cells are able to survive during hypoxia stress (Zhang et al. 2008).

GLI1-related factor 2 and NF-E2 (Nrf2) are also in the group of transcription factors that are regulated and can act as effectors of ROS. In the case of GLI1, in recent years it has been observed that ROS are able to activate this protein. For example, NOX4 enzyme promotes gastric cancer, modulating cells growth via GLI1 pathway (Tang et al. 2018). Nrf2 is a transcription factor of numerous antioxidant genes. Under physiological conditions, Nrf2 protein is repressed through its association to Keap1, which leads to Nrf2 degradation by the ubiquitin-proteasome system. Cellular oxidative stress increases Nrf2 level through posttranslation regulation, as a result of Keap1 inactivation mediated by ROS and thereby Nrf2:Keap1 complex dissociation. The multiple functions of Nrf2 have mainly been elucidated by the identification of Nrf2 target genes with a common antioxidant element response (ARE) binding motif. Particularly, those genes are involved in antioxidant defense, drug metabolism, and oxidant signaling. Overall, Nrf2 is considered to have cytoprotective role that protects both normal and tumor cells from oxidative damage. However, when cancer is developed, Nrf2 expression correlates with a bad prognostic given its connection to therapeutic resistance (Zimta et al. 2019).

Modulation of Immune Cells by Tumor Microenvironment-Associated Oxidative Stress

The effect of ROS in the immune cells present in the tumor stroma is controversial (Yang et al. 2013). Here, we discussed the state of the field on the role of ROS in the modulation of immune composition and functionality within the TME.

Natural Killer Cells

Natural killer (NK) cells are innate immune cells which show the ability to eliminate cancer cells, without previous antigen presentation. NK cells can be subdivided into two major subsets based on the relative expression of the surface marker CD56: CD56^{dim} and CD56^{bright}. NK cells release preformed cytolytic granules, including perforin and granzymes, after forming immune synapses between germline-encoded stimulatory receptors (such as NKG2D and NKp46) and target cells (Vivier et al. 2012). Thus, their main cytotoxic strategy is the induction of cell lysis, which it has demonstrated to be highly dependent on ROS-production, in particular in the early steps after the synapses formation (Suthanthiran et al. 1984; Duwe et al. 1985). Paradoxically, NK cells exposed to ROS impaired their cytolytic activity by decreasing CD3ζ and CD16ζ (Kono et al. 1996), NKG2D and NKp46 expression, and secretion of IFN- γ (Houze et al. 1996). In the TME, this inhibition can be triggered by monocytes ROS in a NOX2-dependent fashion (Aurelius et al. 2012). NK cells are exceptionally sensitive to ROS-mediated cytotoxicity, which promoted their apoptotic cell death (Hansson et al. 1996). Epidemiological studies have demonstrated that levels of mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) content were positively correlated with ROS-mediated immunosuppressive phenotype in cancer patients. In particular, high leukocyte mtDNA content was associated with ROS-mediated secretion of TGF- β , leading to lower NK presence in the tumor (Chen et al. 2015; He et al. 2016). Interestingly, CD56^{dim} NK cells (highly cytotoxic) exhibited higher sensitivity to phagocyte-derived or exposure to ROS than CD56^{bright} (less cytotoxic), associated to their antioxidant differential activities (Romero et al. 2006; Harlin et al. 2007; Thorén et al. 2007). These differential subset-dependent resistance explains, at least in part, the preferential enrichment of NK cells CD56^{bright}, which display less antitumor activity, in ROS high tumor microenvironment (Izawa et al. 2011), contributing to cancer immunosuppression.

Dendritic Cells

Dendritic cells (DCs) are specialized antigen presenting cells (APCs) linking innate and adaptive immunity. The central role of DCs is the capture, processing, and cross-presentation of tumor-associated antigens to adaptive immune cells, regulating their polarization into effector cells and thereby generating tumorspecific immunity. Upon exposure to "activating stimuli," iDCs turn into mature DCs (mDCs) through a complicated series of phenotypic and functional changes (Anguille et al. 2014). ROS promote this maturation process, by the upregulation of MHC and co-stimulatory molecules (Rutault et al. 1999; Kantengwa et al. 2003). ROS increased during differentiation in monocyte-derived DCs leading to an enhanced antigen uptake and processing (Sheng et al. 2010). Antigen cross-presentation relied on NOX2-mediated ROS generation and subsequent prevention of acidification within DCs phagosomes (Savina et al. 2006; Mantegazza et al. 2008). On the other hand, tumor-associated DCs demonstrated to be defective in their ability to cross-present antigens. It has been reported a harmful accumulation of oxidized lipids in DCs, which caused defect in the traffic of peptide–MHC class I complexes to the cell surface (Ramakrishnan et al. 2014; Veglia et al. 2017). Taken together, this inhibition of antigen cross-presentation partially explains the failure of DCs within tumor microenvironment adequately stimulate T-cells responses.

T-Cells

Within CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cell compartment (referred here as T-cells), responses to oxidative stress are multifaceted (Chen et al. 2016). Adequate T-cell response requires the generation of 3 major signals: antigen recognition by TCR-MHC engagement (signal 1), co-stimulation (signal 2), and cytokine priming (signal 3). After that, antigen-specific naïve resting T-cells proliferate and differentiate into different classes of effectors. Under physiological conditions, low-concentration of ROS showed to be necessary for those molecular events (Yang et al. 2013). Intracellular ROS generation increased immediately after TCR stimulation (Kwon et al. 2003; Jackson et al. 2004) in a NOX2-dependent manner (Jackson et al. 2004). This ROS signaling is an essential requirement for T-cell expansion and IL-2 and IL-4 activating autocrine/paracrine action (Chaudhri et al. 1988; Kaminski et al. 2010; Sena et al. 2013). In addition, ROS also regulate T-cell death during the terminal phase of immune response. By modulating FasL and Bcl-2 expression, intracellular ROS are involved in the regulation of both extrinsic and intrinsic apoptosis (Bauer et al. 1998; Hildeman et al. 2002; Hildeman 2004).

Given that the main features of T-cells are governed by a tightly regulated redox balance, it seems logical to assume that tumor-infiltrating T-cells could be dysfunctional due to the presence of TME-associated oxidative stress. It is well known that T lymphocytes isolated from patients with cancer displayed reduced proliferative responses upon TCR ligation ex vivo (Miescher et al. 1988). This observation appears to reflect an in vivo tumor-associated T-cell hyporesponsiveness by affecting TCR-signaling pathways (Cemerski et al. 2002). Further, it was demonstrated that granulocyte activation in cancer patients correlated with the inhibition of TCR expression and cytokine production by their T-cells (Schmielau and Finn 2001). Taken together, these findings point to the contrasting role of low or high levels and the closely network that redox balance could control on antitumor T-cell functions.

Treg Cells

Foxp3⁺CD25⁺CD4⁺ regulatory T (Treg) cells are the main adaptive cellular mediators controlling self-tolerance and immune homeostasis. The underlying mechanisms to driving this suppressive activity include the secretion inhibitory cytokine (e.g., TGF- β), cytolysis of target cells and metabolic disruption of the effector T-cell target by adenosine generation and IL-2 consumption. During cancer development, it is well established that Treg promote tumor progression by obstructing effective antitumor immunity (Takeuchi and Nishikawa 2016). It has been demonstrated that Treg-mediated suppression of CD4⁺ T-cells was NOX2-dependent, involved TGF- β , and could be blocked by antioxidant (Efimova et al. 2011). As mentioned in the previous sections, excessive ROS have shown to be harmful for those antitumor immune populations, such as NK cells and T-cells during cancer development. Paradoxically, tumor sites exhibited a superior number of Tregs, indicating that they could subsist in this environment of increased oxidative stress. ROS-mediated secretion of TGF- β , simultaneous with high leukocyte mtDNA, was also associated with higher levels of Treg cell and overall lower cancer patient survival (He et al. 2016). The extraordinary ability of Treg to resist oxidative stress while maintaining their immunosuppressive activities might be attributed to their stronger intracellular antioxidative machinery (Mougiakakos et al. 2009). Overall, this evidence could explain Treg cells enrichment in malignancies stroma and their contribution in the immunosuppressive phenotype of cancer.

ROS Involvement on Immunomodulation by Antitumor Therapeutics Immunotherapy

A large number of reports support the fact that most of the anticancer strategies shared the ROS generation displaying both supporting or suppressing cancer cells-intrinsic signaling programs (Gorrini et al. 2013; Raza et al. 2017; Zou et al. 2017; Lamberti et al. 2018; Perillo et al. 2020). In addition, FDA-approved agents or the ones currently in clinical trials triggered ROS generation in both direct or indirect manner (Gorrini et al. 2013; Raza et al. 2017; Perillo et al. 2020).

Considering that the immunosuppressive properties in TME are mediated by oxidative stress, the employment of antioxidant agents or supplements on antitumor regimen would contribute to immunoregulatory mechanisms improving the therapeutic intervention. Similarly, studies showed that NOX inhibition could immunoimprove cytotoxicity in human cancers (Raza et al. 2017). As mentioned in the previous sections, NOX are enzyme catalyzing reactions generating ROS (Gorrini et al. 2013). It has been demonstrated by suppressing NOX activity, and histamine protects NK cells and T-cells dysfunction and apoptosis and also maintains their activation by IL-2 among other activators (Hellstrand 2002). Several agents have been evaluated for NOX inhibition in vivo but they blocked the action of several other ROS generating enzymes (Altenhöfer et al. 2015; Raza et al. 2017). To conclude, NOX inhibition can play a vital role in cancer immunotherapy but further investigation is needed to address by pivot a therapeutic intervention.

Some evidences have shown that oxidative stress in the tumor microenvironment is able to alter phenotypically and functionally DCs blunting antitumor immunity. Accordingly, deletion or selective silencing DCs fueled oxidation byproducts by ROS restored their immunostimulatory activity evoking protective type 1 antitumor responses thus offering a cancer immunotherapy approach (Cubillos-Ruiz et al. 2015). Several therapeutics have the ability to initiate a productive immunostimulatory action whose impact depends on schedules, dose, and administration routes. Thus, many anticancer cytotoxic agents interfere often to the occurrence of an immune tolerance and prevent cancer. A prominent activation of the immune system against cancer constitutes the immunogenic cell death (ICD), which determines the long-term success therapies by promoting adaptive immunity and involves a welldefined spatiotemporal scheme of cell surface composition changes as well as release of soluble mediators. Moreover, accumulating clinical evidence demonstrates the ability of several agents to drive ICD in oncological settings including chemotherapeutics and physical therapeutic modalities (Kroemer et al. 2013; Bezu et al. 2015; Faè et al. 2016; Lamberti et al. 2019b, 2020; Galluzzi et al. 2020). Enclosed to those physical interventions and regarding ROS-based therapeutics, photodynamic therapy (PDT) constitutes a potential strategy in generation these photooxidizing reactive molecules as pivotal mechanism to kill cancer cells by three reported ways. One of them relies on the promotion of release of cytokines and acute inflammation into tumor tissue invoking immune cells to destroy the tumor (Agostinis et al. 2011; Rumie Vittar et al. 2013; Raza et al. 2017; Zou et al. 2017; Kessel and Oleinick 2018; Lamberti et al. 2020). The relevance of PDT leading effectiveness as immunotherapeutic interventions has been analyzed (Kroemer et al. 2013; Wachowska et al. 2015). In this context, PDT has been linked as ICD inducer associated with several damageassociated molecular patterns (DAMPs) involved in (Garg et al. 2011, 2012; Kroemer et al. 2013; Verfaillie et al. 2013; Lamberti et al. 2019a). As an adjuvant strategy that aimed trigger and enhance immune system activation, PDT is currently evaluated in vaccine protocols (Lamberti et al. 2020). In this context, our research group has reported for the first time the PDT relationship with the IFN-1 pathway. Tumor cells subjected to PDT showed phenotypic and functional DC maturation IFN-1 dependent outlining a novel photomodulated mechanism (Lamberti et al. 2019b). This novel danger signal released by cancer cells subjected to PDT could represent a possible ex vivo stimulated DC cultures as adoptive or personalized immunotherapy vaccines. Further research detail is required to categorize as clinical strategy in vivo.

Another approach concerning PDT-ICD inducer for DC-based vaccines was reported an orthotopic high-grade glioma (HGG) mouse model. A strong anti-HGG survival benefit was clinically relevant when vaccines were provided. Therefore, this preclinical evidence suggests that vaccination with ICD-stimulated DCs may be clinically translated for glioma treatment (Garg et al. 2016). Another promising study shows that the combination of chemo- and photo-therapeutic protocols stimulated DCs recruitment to form an in situ DC vaccine eliciting an inhibition of primary and distant tumor growth following a single intravenous injection (Yang et al. 2019).

In summary, there are increasing evidences that oxidative stress PDT-triggered should be considered as clinical strategy that permits an immunological antitumor environment.

Conclusion

In summary, depending on the context, ROS can have an antitumor or tumor promoter roles in carcinogenesis. Regulation of immune cell function plays a pivotal role for these opposed effects. Overall, it should be considered that the redox balance which include, among other factors, different ROS sources plus antioxidant intrinsic capacity of cellular and noncellular scavengers, instead of the absolute ROS level, when estimating the significances of oxidative stress in the immune stroma. Despite the fact that immune cells require a basal level of ROS for their proper functioning, TME-associated oxidative stress modulates their viability and/or activity. The impact of this "redox imbalance" relies in part on the differential cellular sensitivity to ROS. Taken together, the evidence here suggests that the basis of ROS-mediated immunosuppression in tumor microenvironment is the inhibition of those immune cells with antitumor functions (NK cells, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cells, immunogenic DCs) accompanied with enrichment of immunosuppressive Tregs in tumor niche (Fig. 3).



Positive modulation — Negative modulation

Fig. 3 ROS-mediated modulation of immune cells within tumor microenvironment. As illustrated in the review's text, ROS within tumor microenvironment acts as an immune escape mechanism by repressing the effect of antitumor effectors: NK cells, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cells, immunogenic DCs. On the other hand, Treg cells are recruited and enriched in tumor site and exhibit high resistance to excessive ROS. This population, by suppressing antitumor immune response, favors tumor progression

References

- Agostinis P, Berg K, Cengel KA et al (2011) Photodynamic therapy of cancer: an update. CA Cancer J Clin 61:250–281
- Altenhöfer S, Radermacher KA, Kleikers PWM et al (2015) Evolution of NADPH oxidase inhibitors: selectivity and mechanisms for target engagement. Antioxid Redox Signal 23:406–427
- Anguille S, Smits EL, Lion E et al (2014) Clinical use of dendritic cells for cancer therapy. Lancet Oncol 15:e257–e267. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70585-0
- Arcucci A, Ruocco MR, Granato G et al (2016) Cancer: an oxidative crosstalk between solid tumor cells and cancer associated fibroblasts. Biomed Res Int 2016:4502846. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2016/4502846
- Aurelius J, Thorén FB, Akhiani AA et al (2012) Monocytic AML cells inactivate antileukemic lymphocytes: role of NADPH oxidase/gp91 phox expression and the PARP-1/PAR pathway of apoptosis. Blood 119:5832–5837. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-11-391722
- Bauer M, Vogt M, Los M et al (1998) Role of reactive oxygen intermediates in activation-induced CD95 (APO-1/Fas) ligand expression. J Biol Chem 273:8048–8055
- Bedard K, Krause K-H (2007) The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology. Physiol Rev 87:245–313. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00044.2005
- Bezu L, Gomes-de-Silva L, Dewitte H et al (2015) Combinatorial strategies for the induction of immunogenic cell death. Front Immunol 6:187
- Cadet J, Richard Wagner J (2013) DNA base damage by reactive oxygen species, oxidizing agents, and UV radiation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 5. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect. a012559
- Cemerski S, Cantagrel A, Van Meerwijk J, Romagnoli P (2002) Reactive oxygen species differentially affect T cell receptor-signaling pathways. J Biol Chem 277:19585–19593
- Chaudhri G, Hunt N, Clark I, Ceredig R (1988) Antioxidants inhibit proliferation and cell surface expression of receptors for interleukin-2 and transferrin in T lymphocytes stimulated with phorbol myristate acetate and ionomycin. Cell Immunol 115:204–213
- Chen Y, Zhang J, Huang X et al (2015) High leukocyte mitochondrial DNA content contributes to poor prognosis in glioma patients through its immunosuppressive effect. Br J Cancer 113:99–106
- Chen X, Song M, Zhang B, Zhang Y (2016) Reactive oxygen species regulate T cell immune response in the tumor microenvironment. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2016:1580967
- Cooke MS, Evans MD, Dizdaroglu M, Lunec J (2003) Oxidative DNA damage: mechanisms, mutation, and disease. FASEB J 17. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.02-0752rev
- Costa A, Scholer-Dahirel A, Mechta-Grigoriou F (2014) The role of reactive oxygen species and metabolism on cancer cells and their microenvironment. Semin Cancer Biol 25:23–32. https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.SEMCANCER.2013.12.007
- Cubillos-Ruiz J, Silberman P, Rutkowski M et al (2015) ER stress sensor XBP1 controls anti-tumor immunity by disrupting dendritic cell homeostasis. Cell 161:1527–1538
- Davies C, Tournier C (2012) Exploring the function of the JNK (c-Jun N-terminal kinase) signalling pathway in physiological and pathological processes to design novel therapeutic strategies. Biochem Soc Trans 40:85
- Duwe A, Werkmeister J, Roder J et al (1985) Natural killer cell-mediated lysis involves an hydroxyl radical-dependent step. J Immunol 134:2637–2644
- Efimova O, Szankasi P, Kelley T (2011) Ncf1 (p47phox) is essential for direct regulatory T cell mediated suppression of CD4+ effector T cells. PLoS One 6:e16013
- Faè D, Martorelli D, Mastorci K et al (2016) Broadening specificity and enhancing cytotoxicity of adoptive T cells for nasopharyngeal carcinoma immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Res 4:431–440
- Galluzzi L, Agostinis P, Vitale I et al (2020) Consensus guidelines for the definition, detection and interpretation of immunogenic cell death. J Immunother Cancer 8:e000337. https://doi.org/10. 1136/jitc-2019-000337
- Garg A, Krysko D, Vandenabeele P, Agostinis P (2011) DAMPs and PDT-mediated photo-oxidative stress: exploring the unknown. Photochem Photobiol Sci 10:670–680

- Garg A, Krysko D, Vandenabeele P, Agostinis P (2012) Hypericin-based photodynamic therapy induces surface exposure of damage-associated molecular patterns like HSP70 and calreticulin. Cancer Immunol Immunother 61:215–221
- Garg AD, Vandenberk L, Koks C et al (2016) Dendritic cell vaccines based on immunogenic cell death elicit danger signals and T cell–driven rejection of high-grade glioma. Immunotherapy 8. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aae0105
- Gorrini C, Harris I, Mak T (2013) Modulation of oxidative stress as an anticancer strategy. Nat Rev Drug Discov 12:931–947. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd4002
- Hansson M, Asea A, Ersson U et al (1996) Induction of apoptosis in NK cells by monocyte-derived reactive oxygen metabolites. J Immunol 156:42–47
- Harlin H, Hanson M, Johansson CC et al (2007) The CD16 CD56 bright NK cell subset is resistant to reactive oxygen species produced by activated granulocytes and has higher Antioxidative capacity than the CD16 + CD56 dim subset. J Immunol 179:4513–4519. https://doi. org/10.4049/jimmunol.179.7.4513
- He X, Qu F, Zhou F et al (2016) High leukocyte mtDNA content contributes to poor prognosis through ROS-mediated immunosuppression in hepatocellular carcinoma patients. Oncotarget 7: 22834–22845. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.8071
- Hellstrand K (2002) Histamine in cancer immunotherapy: a preclinical background. Semin Oncol 29:35–40
- Hildeman D (2004) Regulation of T-cell apoptosis by reactive oxygen species. Free Radic Biol Med 36:1496–1504
- Hildeman D, Zhu Y, Mitchell T et al (2002) Activated T cell death in vivo mediated by proapoptotic bcl-2 family member bim. Immunity 16:759–767
- Houze TA, Larsson PA, Hellstrand K, Gustavsson B (1996) The role of reactive oxygen metabolites in the transcriptional regulation of IFN-γ gene expression by histamine in NK cells following IL-2 stimulation. Cell Biol Int 20:589–898. https://doi.org/10.1006/cbir.1996.0077
- Izawa S, Kono K, Mimura K et al (2011) H2O2 production within tumor microenvironment inversely correlated with infiltration of CD56dim NK cells in gastric and esophageal cancer: possible mechanisms of NK cell dysfunction. Cancer Immunol Immunother 60:1801–1810. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-011-1082-7
- Jackson S, Devadas S, Kwon J et al (2004) T cells express a phagocyte-type NADPH oxidase that is activated after T cell receptor stimulation. Nat Immunol 5:818–827
- Jun JC, Rathore A, Younas H et al (2017) Hypoxia-inducible factors and cancer. Curr Sleep Med Rep 3:1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40675-017-0062-7
- Kaminski M, Sauer S, Klemke C et al (2010) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species control T cell activation by regulating IL-2 and IL-4 expression: mechanism of ciprofloxacin-mediated immunosuppression. J Immunol 184:4827–4841
- Kantengwa S, Jornot L, Devenoges C, Nicod L (2003) Superoxide anions induce the maturation of human dendritic cells. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 167:431–437
- Kessel D, Oleinick N (2018) Cell death pathways associated with photodynamic therapy: an update. Photochem Photobiol 94:213–218. https://doi.org/10.1111/php.12857
- Kim Y, Stolarska M, Othmer HG (2011) The role of the microenvironment in tumor growth and invasion. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 106:353–379
- Kono K, Salazar-Onfray F, Petersson M et al (1996) Hydrogen peroxide secreted by tumor-derived macrophages down-modulates signal-transducing zeta molecules and inhibits tumor-specific T cell-and natural killer cell-mediated cytotoxicity. Eur J Immunol 26:1308–1313. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/eji.1830260620
- Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L (2013) Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy. Annu Rev Immunol 31:51–72. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-100008
- Kumari S, Badana A, Murali Mohan G et al (2018) Reactive oxygen species: a key constituent in cancer survival. Biomark Insights 13:1177271918755391
- Kwon J, Devadas S, Williams M (2003) T cell receptor-stimulated generation of hydrogen peroxide inhibits MEK-ERK activation and lck serine phosphorylation. Free Radic Biol Med 35:406–417

- Lamberti M, Pansa M, Vera R et al (2017) Transcriptional activation of HIF-1 by a ROS-ERK axis underlies the resistance to photodynamic therapy. PLoS One 12:e0177801
- Lamberti M, Morales Vasconsuelo A, Chiaramello M et al (2018) NQO1 induction mediated by photodynamic therapy synergizes with β-Lapachone-halogenated derivative against melanoma. Biomed Pharmacother:1553–1564. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2018.09.159
- Lamberti M, Rettel M, Krijgsveld J et al (2019a) Secretome profiling of heterotypic spheroids suggests a role of fibroblasts in HIF-1 pathway modulation and colorectal cancer photodynamic resistance. Cell Oncol (Dordr) 42:173–196
- Lamberti MJ, Mentucci FM, Roselli E et al (2019b) Photodynamic modulation of type 1 interferon pathway on melanoma cells promotes dendritic cell activation. Front Immunol 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.02614
- Lamberti MJ, Vittar R, Natalia Belén Nigro A, Mentucci FM et al (2020) Dendritic cells and immunogenic cancer cell death: a combination for improving antitumor immunity. Pharmaceutics 12:256
- Mantegazza A, Savina A, Vermeulen M et al (2008) NADPH oxidase controls phagosomal pH and antigen cross-presentation in human dendritic cells. Blood 112:4712–4722
- Miescher S, Stoeck M, Qiao L et al (1988) Proliferative and cytolytic potentials of purified human tumor-infiltrating T lymphocytes. Impaired response to mitogen-driven stimulation despite T-cell receptor expression. Int J Cancer 42:659–666
- Moloney JN, Cotter TG (2018) ROS signalling in the biology of cancer. Semin Cell Dev Biol 80: 50–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2017.05.023
- Mougiakakos D, Johansson C, Kiessling R (2009) Naturally occurring regulatory T cells show reduced sensitivity toward oxidative stress-induced cell death. Blood 113:3542–3545
- Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Beury D, Parker K, Horn L (2020) Survival of the fittest: how myeloidderived suppressor cells survive in the inhospitable tumor microenvironment. Cancer Immunol Immunother 69:215–222
- Palazon A, Goldrath AW, Nizet V, Johnson RS (2014) HIF transcription factors, inflammation, and immunity. Immunity 41:518–528. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2014.09.008
- Perillo B, Di Donato M, Pezone A et al (2020) ROS in cancer therapy: the bright side of the moon. Exp Mol Med 52:192–203. https://doi.org/10.1038/s12276-020-0384-2
- Ramakrishnan R, Tyurin V, Veglia F et al (2014) Oxidized lipids block antigen cross-presentation by dendritic cells in cancer. J Immunol 192:2920–2931
- Raza MH, Siraj S, Arshad A et al (2017) ROS-modulated therapeutic approaches in cancer treatment. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 143:1789–1809
- Rodríguez M, Catrinacio C, Ropolo A et al (2017) A novel HIF-1α/VMP1-autophagic pathway induces resistance to photodynamic therapy in colon cancer cells. Photochem Photobiol Sci 16: 1631–1642
- Romero AI, Thorén FB, Brune M, Hellstrand K (2006) NKp46 and NKG2D receptor expression in NK cells with CD56dim and CD56bright phenotype: regulation by histamine and reactive oxygen species. Br J Haematol 132:91–98. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2005.05842.x
- Rumie Vittar NB, Lamberti MJ, Pansa MF et al (2013) Ecological photodynamic therapy: new trend to disrupt the intricate networks within tumor ecosystem. Biochim Biophys Acta 1835. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bbcan.2012.10.004
- Rutault K, Alderman C, Chain B, Katz D (1999) Reactive oxygen species activate human peripheral blood dendritic cells. Free Radic Biol Med 26:232–238
- Savina A, Jancic C, Hugues S et al (2006) NOX2 controls phagosomal pH to regulate antigen processing during crosspresentation by dendritic cells. Cell 126:205–218
- Schmielau J, Finn O (2001) Activated granulocytes and granulocyte-derived hydrogen peroxide are the underlying mechanism of suppression of t-cell function in advanced cancer patients. Cancer Res 61:4756–4760
- Sena L, Li S, Jairaman A et al (2013) Mitochondria are required for antigen-specific T cell activation through reactive oxygen species signaling. Immunity 38:225–236
- Shefa U, Jeong NY, Song IO et al (2019) Mitophagy links oxidative stress conditions and neurodegenerative diseases. Neural Regen Res 14:749–756. https://doi.org/10.4103/1673-5374.249218

- Sheng K, Pietersz G, Tang C et al (2010) Reactive oxygen species level defines two functionally distinctive stages of inflammatory dendritic cell development from mouse bone marrow. J Immunol 184:2863–2872
- Snezhkina A, Kudryavtseva A, Kardymon O et al (2019) ROS generation and antioxidant defense systems in normal and malignant cells. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2019:6175804
- Soares-Silva M, Diniz FF, Gomes GN, Bahia D (2016) The mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway: role in immune evasion by trypanosomatids. Front Microbiol 7:183. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00183
- Sobolewski C, Cerella C, Dicato M et al (2010) The role of cyclooxygenase-2 in cell proliferation and cell death in human malignancies. Int J Cell Biol 2010:1–21. https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/ 215158
- Srivastava M, Sinha P, Clements V et al (2010) Myeloid-derived suppressor cells inhibit T-cell activation by depleting cystine and cysteine. Cancer Res 70:68–77
- Suthanthiran M, Solomon S, Williams P et al (1984) Hydroxyl radical scavengers inhibit human natural killer cell activity. Nature 307:276–278
- Takeuchi Y, Nishikawa H (2016) Roles of regulatory T cells in cancer immunity. Int Immunol 28: 401–409
- Tang C-T, Lin X-L, Wu S et al (2018) NOX4-driven ROS formation regulates proliferation and apoptosis of gastric cancer cells through the GLI1 pathway. Cell Signal 46:52–63. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cellsig.2018.02.007
- Thorén F, Romero A, Hermodsson S, Hellstrand K (2007) The CD16-/CD56bright subset of NK cells is resistant to oxidant-induced cell death. J Immunol 179:781–785
- Veglia F, Tyurin V, Mohammadyani D et al (2017) Lipid bodies containing oxidatively truncated lipids block antigen cross-presentation by dendritic cells in cancer. Nat Commun 8:2122
- Veith A, Moorthy B (2018) Role of cytochrome P450 in the generation and metabolism of reactive oxygen species. Curr Opin Toxicol 7:44–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cotox.2017.10.003
- Verfaillie T, Garg A, Agostinis P (2013) Targeting ER stress induced apoptosis and inflammation in cancer. Cancer Lett 332:249–264
- Vivier E, Ugolini S, Blaise D et al (2012) Targeting natural killer cells and natural killer T cells in cancer. Nat Rev Immunol 12:239–252. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3174
- Wachowska M, Muchowicz A, Demkow U (2015) Immunological aspects of antitumor photodynamic therapy outcome. Cent Eur J Immunol 40:481–485
- Wang M, Zhao J, Zhang L et al (2017) Role of tumor microenvironment in tumorigenesis. J Cancer 8:761–773. https://doi.org/10.7150/jca.17648
- Weinberg F, Ramnath N, Nagrath D (2019) Reactive oxygen species in the tumor microenvironment: an overview. Cancers (Basel) 11. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11081191
- Wentworth CC, Alam A, Jones RM et al (2011) Enteric commensal bacteria induce extracellular signal-regulated kinase pathway signaling via formyl peptide receptor-dependent redox modulation of dual specific phosphatase. J Biol Chem 286. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.268938
- Yang Y, Bazhin A, Werner J, Karakhanova S (2013) Reactive oxygen species in the immune system. Int Rev Immunol 32:249–270
- Yang W, Zhu G, Wang S et al (2019) In situ dendritic cell vaccine for effective cancer immunotherapy. ACS Nano 13:3083–3094. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.8b08346
- Zhang H, Bosch-Marce M, Shimoda L et al (2008) Mitochondrial autophagy is an HIF-1-dependent adaptive metabolic response to hypoxia. J Biol Chem 283:10892–10903
- Zhang J, Wang X, Vikash V et al (2016) ROS and ROS-mediated cellular signaling. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2016:4350965
- Zimta A, Cenariu D, Irimie A et al (2019) The role of Nrf2 activity in cancer development and progression. Cancers (Basel) 11:1755
- Zou Z, Chang H, Li H, Wang S (2017) Induction of reactive oxygen species: an emerging approach for cancer therapy. Apoptosis 22:1321–1335. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10495-017-1424-9